IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

State of West Virginia,
Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

SCA EFiled: Dec 28 2023
09:55AM EST
Transaction ID 71700992

vs.) No. 23-546

Appeal from Final Order of Berkeley County
Circuit Court (22-F-31)

Rida Shahid Hendershot,
Defendant Below, Petitioner

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Respectfully submitted,
RIDA SHAHID HENDERSHOT,
Petitioner

By Counsel

/s/ Jonathan T. O'Dell
Jonathan T. O'Dell, Esq.
WVSB No. 12498
Assistant Public Defender
Public Defender Corp. 23rd Circuit
301 West Burke Street, Suite A
Martinsburg, WV 25401
Phone: 304-263-8909
Fax: 304-267-0418
Email: jodell@pdc23.com

Counsel for Petitioner

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The lower court erred and abused its discretion in admitting hearsay, and evidence of alleged prior bad acts of Petitioner, as both intrinsic and pursuant to Rule 404(b) of the Rules of Evidence, which unduly prejudiced the jury against Petitioner.
- II. The lower court erred and abused its discretion in admitting the State's expert on domestic violence, whose testimony was not relevant toward the charges in the indictment, improperly bolstered the State's hearsay and evidence of alleged prior bad acts of Petitioner, and only confused the jury regarding elements of Petitioner's ultimate convictions.
- III. The lower court erred and abused its discretion by denying Petitioner's motions for judgment of acquittal, or alternatively, for a new trial, when the evidence was insufficient to support conviction and the jury's verdict was not supported by the evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal comes from the Berkeley County Circuit Court's "Sentencing Order" (hereinafter "Final Order"), entered on August 21, 2023, which sentenced Petitioner to a determinate fifty (50) years prison, and denied Petitioner's post-trial motions for judgment of acquittal, or alternatively, for a new trial, based upon Petitioner's convictions for felony second-degree murder and felony use of a firearm during commission of a felony, following a jury trial. (AR 586-588, 1575-1649).

On May 25, 2021, Petitioner shot her ex-husband, whom she was residing with, who died as a result. (AR 1-4). She was originally charged with felony wanton endangerment, but upon subsequent investigation, upon re-filed charges, was charged with first degree murder, by criminal complaint and warrant, under Berkeley County Magistrate Court Case 21-M02F-505, and

remanded to jail. (AR 1-5). Probable cause was found at a preliminary hearing, the case was bound over to circuit court. (AR 6). Petitioner subsequently sought to be admitted to bail under Berkeley County Circuit Case 21-B-302, which the lower court denied, and the case was subsequently indicted, and assigned Berkeley County Circuit Case 22-F-31. (AR 7-10, 589-599).

On March 3, 2022, Petitioner was arraigned on this indictment, on felony first degree murder and felony use of a firearm during commission of a felony, and a trial schedule was set. (AR 9-15, 600-606). Subsequently, the case underwent general trial preparation, Petitioner's counsel withdrew from the case, the case was continued, and Petitioner was assigned court-appointed counsel. (AR 16-27, 102). Between arraignment and the pre-trial hearing held on January 19, 2023, the parties filed various pre-trial pleadings, related to suppression issues, evidentiary issues, expert disclosures, proposed witness lists, and prepared for trial. (AR 28-101).

On January 19, 2023, a pre-trial hearing was held to address these various pleadings, where the parties came to agreements regarding many of the pending pleadings, leaving at contention upon conclusion of the January 19, 2023, pre-trial hearing, issues related to primarily to the State's intention to use a domestic violence expert, and the State's intention to admit evidence through testimony and text messages related to Petitioner's alleged prior bad acts related to what the State asserted was domestic violence committed by Petitioner. (AR 219-221, 607-639). The lower court scheduled a continuation of pre-trial proceedings to be heard on February 1, 2023, to further address the issues in contention. (AR 219-221, 636-638).

Between the January 19, 2023, pre-trial hearing, and the February 1, 2023, pre-trial hearing, the parties filed various pleadings related to the issues that remained in contention. (AR 103-218, 222-223). Ahead of the February 1, 2023, pre-trial hearing, the issues still in contention were based upon Petitioner's theory of the case that the shooting of her ex-husband was a tragic accidental

misfire of the firearm at issue and the State's theory of the case that the shooting was intentional and the culmination of Petitioner's domestic abuse toward her ex-husband.

At the February 1, 2023, pre-trial hearing, the lower court heard testimony from two of the State's proposed witnesses at issue regarding the alleged prior bad acts by Petitioner regarding allegations of incidents involving a machete, involving a fork, and involving a screwdriver. (AR 640-695). The lower court also reviewed various text messages proffered by the State to be from messages between the deceased and various individuals regarding allegations previously made by the deceased that Petitioner had previously pointed an AR-15 rifle at him and destroyed doors in his residence while she was intoxicated, as contained within exhibits A through D of the State's most recent Notice regarding admission of what they argued to be intrinsic or 404(b) evidence. (AR 126-177).

The lower court then heard argument of the parties in relation to admission of the text messages contained within these exhibits A through D of the State's Notice, made findings that the proffered testimony and messages related to the alleged AR-15 incident would be admissible as both intrinsic evidence and 404(b) evidence, subject to a limiting instruction, over Petitioner's objections. (AR 224-227, 665-693). Due to time constraints, the remainder of pre-trial issues related to the State's proffer of intent to use evidence they argued was intrinsic to the instant case or admissible as 404(b) evidence were ordered to be addressed the following day, and the lower court schedule another pre-trial hearing for February 2, 2023. (AR 224-227, 692-694).

In the February 2, 2023, pre-trial hearing, the lower court reviewed the remaining exhibits, proffered by the State, labeled E through H, to the State's Notice, consisting of more text messages, and photos, related to the alleged fork incident, alleged screwdriver incident, and alleged doors incidents. (AR 178-211, 554-559, 696-761). The lower court heard argument by the parties, and

ultimately made findings that all alleged incidents of prior bad acts, related to the machete, to the screwdriver, and related to the fork, were admissible as both intrinsic evidence and 404(b) evidence, subject to a limiting instruction, over Petitioner's objections. (AR 554-559, 698-737). The lower court held ruling regarding the alleged doors incident in abeyance pending voir dire of the State's proposed domestic violence expert, which was ordered to be conducted in the future outside the jury's presence. (AR 554-559, 714-717).

Subsequent to the February 2, 2023, pre-trial hearing, the parties prepared for trial and additional pleadings were filed related to voir dire, jury instructions, and a stipulation regarding admission of the autopsy report. (AR 228-263).

Trial commenced on February 7, 2023, lasted five days, and ended with the aforementioned verdict, on February 13, 2023. (AR 264-269, 545, 551-553, 762-1574).

On February 7, 2023, day one of trial, the lower court conducted voir dire, the parties made opening statements, the jury was given general instruction, and the State's case in chief consisted of four witnesses: (1) the mother of the deceased who testified to the relationship between Petitioner and the deceased and her having Petitioner evicted from the residence after the shooting; (2) Petitioner's neighbor who testified to Petitioner running to him for help, asking him to call 911, and he calling 911; (3) the EMT who responded to the scene and testified to the extent of injuries and process of declaring the deceased; and (4) the deceased's uncle, who was also a neighbor, who testified to Petitioner running to his house to seek help. (AR 762-961). State's trial exhibits one through three, and fifty-one, were admitted, consisting of eviction documentation, the 911 call, the EMT report, and the stipulated autopsy report. (AR 271-313, 453-463, 930-931, 937, 943-944, 958-959).

On February 8, 2023, day two of trial, the State's case in chief continued, consisted of four witnesses tied to law enforcement, State's trial exhibits four through forty-eight and Defendant's trial exhibit one were admitted; these exhibits consisted of a jail call made by Petitioner to a relative, the CAD report from the 911 call, pictures taken from the scene, body camera footage from the responding officer and of a walkthrough of the residence, the text messages extracted from both the deceased's phone and Petitioner's phone, and of audio recordings of an interview conducted with Petitioner. (AR 271-273, 314-450, 488-490, 962-1066). State's trial exhibits seventeen through twenty-two, corresponded with text conversations, regarding the previously ruled upon alleged prior bad acts evidence, subject of the issue in contention regarding the State's Notice seeking admission of what they previously argued, and the lower court ruled as admissible evidence as both intrinsic and 404(b) evidence from the pre-trial hearings. (AR 224-227, 362-420, 554-559, 665-693, 698-737, 1027-1032).

On February 9, 2023, day three of trial, the State's case in chief continued, consisted of a continuation of the chief investigating officer's testimony from the prior day, firearms experts for both the State and Petitioner testified, and voir dire was conducted in camera outside the jury's presence of the State's proposed expert on domestic violence, State's trial exhibits forty-nine through fifty-six and Defendant's trial exhibits two through seven were admitted. (AR 271-273, 451-464, 488, 491-523, 1067-1316). The in-camera voir dire of the State's proposed expert on domestic violence was contested, and the lower court ruled that the proposed expert's testimony would be allowed, over Petitioner's objections. (AR 1284-1314). The trial exhibits admitted into evidence consisted of autopsy photos, the autopsy report, the police lab submission regarding firearms evidence, a scene diagram, the police lab forensic report regarding firearms evidence, the magazine and firearm seized from the scene, various text messages, and the table key from the

scene diagram. (AR 271-273, 451-473, 488, 491-523, 1072-1073, 1077-1078, 1123-1139, 1179-1180, 1187, 1202).

On February 10, 2023, day four of trial, the State's case in chief continued, consisted of eight witnesses, the State rested its case, Petitioner made a motion for judgment of acquittal which was denied, after colloquy with the lower court Petitioner elected not to testify, the defense rested its case, jury instructions were debated by the parties after the jury was excused for the day, and the lower court made rulings as to contested jury instructions. (AR 1317-1509). The witnesses called by the State to testify were:

- (1) the deceased's sister who testified to posts on Petitioner's social media pertaining to familiarity with firearms;
- (2) the deceased's younger half-sister who testified to Petitioner's prior statements regarding firearms and familiarity with the same;
- (3) the deceased's step-father regarding interactions with the deceased and Petitioner, the deceased's desire for Petitioner to move out, and Petitioner's statements and/or familiarity with firearms;
- (4, 5, 6) the three witnesses whose testimony was subject of contest between the parties regarding possible intrinsic and/or 404(b) evidence of Petitioner's alleged prior bad acts, who consisted of two of the deceased's friends and one of Petitioner's ex-boyfriends, testified regarding said acts;
- (7) the State's expert on domestic violence, whose qualifications and proposed testimony was subject of contest between the parties, testified; and,
- (8) the deceased's father who testified about interactions with the deceased, his desires, and Petitioner's familiarity with firearms.

(AR 1317-1509).

Through these witnesses on February 10, 2023, State's trial exhibits fifty-seven through seventy were admitted into evidence and depict photos from Petitioner's social media involving her and firearms, and photos of an injury Petitioner is alleged to have previously committed upon the deceased with a fork. (AR 271-273, 474-487, 1323-1326, 1372-1374). The photos, admitted as State's trial exhibits sixty-nine through seventy involved an incident from the previously ruled

upon alleged prior bad acts evidence, subject of the issue in contention regarding the State's Notice seeking admission of what they previously argued, and the lower court ruled as admissible evidence as both intrinsic and 404(b) evidence from the pre-trial hearings.

On February 13, 2023, day five of trial, the jury was given jury instructions by the lower court, listened to closing arguments of the parties, deliberated, and returned the verdict subject of the instant appeal. (AR 526-545, 1510-1574).

Subsequent to trial, the lower court set a sentencing hearing which was continued a few times and ultimately held on August 9, 2023, Petitioner filed post-trial motions for judgment of acquittal and for a new trial, a pre-sentence investigation report was ordered, conducted, and filed, the State responded to Petitioner's post-trial motions and filed a sentencing recommendation, and Petitioner filed letters of support for sentencing consideration. (AR 546-553, 560-584).

On August 9, 2023, the lower court held a post-trial motions and sentencing hearing. (AR 1575-1649). In this hearing Petitioner's post-trial motions for judgment of acquittal, or alternatively, for a new trial were denied by the lower court. (AR 1578-1582). Additionally, after consideration of various witnesses, argument by the parties, and the pleadings previously filed regarding sentencing, the lower court sentenced Petitioner to a cumulative determinate fifty (50) years in prison. (AR 585-588, 1638-1648).

Petitioner now appeals the convictions and sentence stemming from the jury verdict rendered on February 13, 2023, and sentence pronounced on August 9, 2023, as contained within the lower court's order of conviction and Final Order. (AR 545, 551-553, 586-588, 1569-1570, 1642-1643).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Almost the entirety, if not the entirety, of the evidence presented to the jury, outside the of the alleged prior bad acts evidence, which the lower court erroneously allowed to be admitted, supports an acquittal of any intentional shooting in the instant case, both for the elements of second-degree murder, and for voluntary manslaughter. Regardless, the lower court allowed the jury to hear evidence of alleged unproven prior bad acts out of context, both as intrinsic evidence and under Rule 404(b) of the Rules of Evidence, when this evidence was not proven to involve acts of domestic violence committed by Petitioner, was often inadmissible hearsay, was not connected to the charges in the indictment or intrinsic to the case, was not reliable or relevant to the charges brought against Petitioner, and was unduly prejudicial.

The lower court then further compounded this error by allowing Katie Spriggs, the State's proposed domestic violence expert, to testify as to patterns of domestic violence generally present which leads to lethality, when Ms. Spriggs knew nothing of the facts of the case and should not have been qualified as an expert or allowed to testify. Ms. Spriggs's testimony merely served to improperly bolster the testimony from witnesses Ronald Savage (hereinafter "Savage"), Cody Funkhouser (hereinafter "Funkhouser"), and Melissa Koch (hereinafter "Koch") regarding unproven alleged prior bad acts evidence, which just confused the jury as to the ultimate issues in the case.

This was not a case where the identity of the shooter was in question, the entire case hinged on the intent of Petitioner and whether this was an accidental or intentional shooting, and whether the Petitioner harbored malice toward the deceased if it was intentional. Allowing the State to admit text conversations largely consisting of unproven hearsay, and parade various witnesses who had no knowledge of what occurred in this case, to testify to past unproven events alleged to have

occurred with no relevance toward the whether the shooting was intentional or accidental, served only to confuse the issues to the jury, taint the jury, and prejudice the jury against Petitioner.

Because the lower court erroneously allowed unproven alleged prior bad acts evidence to be admitted, the jury was left with no other conclusion other than Petitioner must be a bad person, and because she is a bad person, she must have committed the crime, which contradicts the entire purpose of Rule 404's restriction on admission of prior bad acts.

The evidence presented to the jury in no way supported a conviction for second-degree murder, much less an intentional shooting, such that no rational jury could have found Petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of second-degree murder.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner asserts that this case involves assignment of error in the application of settled law, claims an unsustainable exercise of discretion, and a result against the weight of the evidence. Therefore, Petitioner respectfully requests, pursuant to Rule 18 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, that this matter be scheduled for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, and that this case would be appropriate for a memorandum decision reversing the lower court's final order under the limited circumstances pursuant to Rule 21(d) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court typically reviews a circuit court's ruling regarding general admissibility of evidence, as applied in the instant case to determinations that certain evidence was admissible as

intrinsic evidence, and in regards to the admission of the State’s expert on domestic violence, under an abuse of discretion standard unless it involves an interpretation of the Rule of Evidence, as the Court has stated:

[f]irst, an interpretation of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence presents a question of law subject to *de novo* review. Second, ordinarily a circuit court’s evidentiary rulings are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. A party challenging a circuit court’s evidentiary rulings has an onerous burden because a reviewing court gives special deference to the evidentiary rulings of a circuit court.

Gentry v. Mangum, 195 W. Va. 512, 518, 466 S.E.2d 171, 177 (1995).

For evidentiary rulings involving a determination of evidence under Rule 404(b) of the Rules of Evidence, the Court has stated:

[t]he standard of review for a trial court’s admission of evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b) involves a three-step analysis. First, we review for clear error the trial court’s factual determination that there is sufficient evidence to show the other acts occurred. Second, we review *de novo* whether the trial court correctly found the evidence was admissible for a legitimate purpose. Third, we review for an abuse of discretion the trial court’s conclusion that the “other acts” evidence is more probative than prejudicial under Rule 403.

State v. LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294, 310-311, 470 S.E.2d 613, 629-630 (1996).

The standard of review for a general sufficiency of evidence claim, is, “whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995).

The Court has held that lower court’s decision on a motion for new trial is reviewed under:

a two-pronged deferential standard of review. We review the rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial and its conclusion as to the existence of reversible error under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court’s underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a *de novo* review.

Syl. Pt. 3, *State v. Vance*, 207 W. Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (2000).

The Court applies a *de novo* standard of review to denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal; however, the evidence is to be viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution to determine “whether there is substantial evidence upon which a jury might justifiably find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” *See State v. Vilela*, 238 W. Va. 11, 21, 792 S.E.2d 22, 32 (2016) (citations omitted).

I. The lower court erred and abused its discretion in admitting hearsay, and evidence of alleged prior bad acts of Petitioner, as both intrinsic and pursuant to Rule 404(b) of the Rules of Evidence, which unduly prejudiced the jury against Petitioner.

Petitioner asserts that the lower court’s admission of the alleged prior bad acts evidence, in the form of witness testimony from witnesses Savage, Funkhouser, and Koch, text message exhibits and photograph exhibits as contained within State’s trial exhibits seventeen through twenty-two, and sixty-nine through seventy, did not comport with the Rules of Evidence and was an abuse of discretion. Petitioner’s asserts that this error by the lower court pertains both to the lower court’s findings that the evidence was admissible as intrinsic evidence, as well as admissible as a prior bad act pursuant to Rule 404(b).

The prior bad acts evidence, whether analyzed as intrinsic evidence or under Rule 404(b) was clearly admitted in error to Petitioner’s prejudice. The prior bad acts evidence was related to allegations of five incidents:

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