---

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-546

SCA EFiled: Feb 29 2024  
12:15PM EST  
Transaction ID 72200827

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

*Respondent,*

v.

RIDA SHAHID HENDERSHOT,

*Petitioner.*

---

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

---

Appeal from the August 21, 2023, Order  
Circuit Court of Berkeley County  
Case No. 22-F-31

**PATRICK MORRISEY  
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**WILLIAM E. LONGWELL  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
West Virginia State Bar No. 12290  
Office of the Attorney General  
1900 Kanawha Blvd. E.  
State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406  
Charleston, WV 25305  
Tel: (304) 558-5830  
Fax: (304) 558-5833

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

Petitioner's assignment of error regarding the admission of Ms. Spriggs' testimony relies on a relevancy argument. Pet'r's Br. 23. Accordingly, this Court reviews challenges to expert testimony based upon claims of relevance "under an abuse of discretion standard." Syl. pt. 3, *Gentry v. Mangum*, 195 W. Va. 512, 466 S.E.2d 171 (1995).

As to Petitioner's sufficiency of the evidence claim, This Court "applies a de novo standard of review to the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal based on the sufficiency of the evidence." *State v. Juntilla*, 227 W. Va. 492, 497, 711 S.E.2d 562, 567 (2011) (citation omitted).

Moreover, this Court has stated that its review of these claims requires the Court to:

Examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

Syl. pt. 3, *State v. Hypes*, 230 W. Va. 390, 738 S.E.2d 554 (2013) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

**II. The evidence of Petitioner's prior bad acts was admissible as either intrinsic to the charged offenses or under Rule 404(b) for the purpose of proving motive, lack of accident, or absence of mistake.**

The circuit court properly considered the various pieces of evidence the State sought to introduce as either intrinsic or 404(b) evidence prior to ruling that they were admissible during Petitioner's jury trial. The circuit court found that, with the exception of the testimony offered by Mr. Funkhouser, the prior acts evidence was intrinsic, and, therefore, not subject to Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. But, despite this conclusion, the circuit court nevertheless conducted a 404(b) analysis, and provided a limiting instruction for *all* of the prior act evidence, despite having no legal obligation to do so. The record demonstrates that the circuit court carefully and thoroughly considered the evidence before finding it was relevant and admissible. The circuit court also provided the jury with a limiting instruction—again, one which it had no obligation to provide—which was designed to protect Petitioner. To the extent that Petitioner claims she was deprived of some procedural right or protection, the record clearly reveals that the court gave her

more than what she was entitled to. Petitioner's first assignment of error should be denied, and the judgment of the circuit court should be affirmed.

Because Petitioner raises two separate issues within her broader challenge to the admissibility of the prior acts evidence, Respondent will address both, in turn, focusing first on the circuit court's determination that the evidence was admissible as intrinsic evidence or pursuant to Rule 404(b), followed by an analysis into Petitioner's claims that portions of the evidence relied on the admission of inadmissible hearsay.

**A. Prior Acts Evidence was admissible either as intrinsic evidence, or for a legitimate purpose under Rule 404(b).**

The first step in determining the admissibility of prior bad acts evidence requires that the court first "determine if the evidence is 'intrinsic' or 'extrinsic.'" *State v. Dennis*, 216 W. Va. 331, 351, 607 S.E.2d 437, 457 (2004) (quoting *LaRock*, 196 W. Va. at 312 n.29, 470 S.E.2d at 631 n.29) (additional citation omitted). "Intrinsic" evidence is evidence that is "inextricably intertwined or both acts are part of a single criminal episode or the other acts were necessary preliminaries to the crime charged." *Id.* (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). The admissibility of this type of evidence holds a critical role in our system of criminal justice, because it is "unquestionably true" "that the prosecution is entitled to prove its case by evidence of its own choice." *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 186-87 (1997). And while evidence may "stri[k]e hard just because it shows so much at once," it is also true that such evidence appropriately has "force beyond any linear scheme of reasoning, and as its pieces come together a narrative gains momentum, with power not only to support conclusions, but to sustain the willingness of jurors to draw the inferences . . . necessary to reach an honest verdict." *Id.* at 187.

Because the overarching aim in the admission of intrinsic evidence is rooted in helping the jury "to reach an honest verdict," it goes without saying that the State must be permitted to "seek

to place its evidence before the jurors, as much to tell the story of guiltiness as to support an inference of guilt, to convince the jurors that a guilty verdict would be morally reasonable as much as to the point to the discrete elements of a defendant's legal fault." *Id.* at 188. And the admission of this evidence is not guided by the customary strictures of a Rule 404(b) analysis, as the United States Supreme Court has held that the admissibility of intrinsic evidence may be made by proffer, and so long as the "proffer fits into the intrinsic category, evidence of other crimes should not be suppressed when those facts come in as *res gestae*—as part and parcel of the proof charged in the indictment." *LaRock*, 196 W. Va. at 312 n.29, 470 S.E.2d at 631 n.29 (citing *United States v. Masters*, 622 F.2d 83, 86 (4th Cir. 1980)). This Court has found the same: intrinsic evidence which is essential to the "indicted charge is not governed by Rule 404(b)." *State v. Harris*, 230 W.Va. 717, 722, 742 S.E.2d 133, 138 (2013).

In *State ex rel. Kitchen v. Painter*, 226 W. Va. 278, 293, 700 S.E.2d 489, 504 (2010), this Court held that evidence offered in a murder prosecution that the defendant was growing marijuana was admissible as intrinsic evidence. This Court held that the defendant and another individual had planned to attack the victim because he believed that the victim had stolen some of the marijuana. *Id.* This led this Court to conclude that "[t]his evidence is inextricably intertwined with the offense of murder because it indicates the appellant's motive for the murder." *Id.* This Court further explained that the evidence was "crucial to explaining the sequence of events immediately prior to the attack on the victims. Thus, the evidence is necessary to provide context and to complete the story of the crime." *Id.*

This case is parallel to this Court's decision in *Dennis* wherein the circuit court allowed evidence of prior domestic violence acts, and found that the acts were necessary to "complete the story of the crime[] on trial" and that the prior acts were intrinsic evidence. *Dennis*, 216 W. Va. at

352, 607 S.E.2d at 458. The *Dennis* Court noted that “[t]his is especially true in light of the domestic violence overlay to the pattern of behavior. Even if we were to conclude that the trial court erred in finding the prior act evidence to be *res gestae*, we believe the evidence would still be admissible under Rule 404(b).” *Id.*

The evidence at issue in the present case carries an identical purpose to that evidence discussed in *Painter*. At trial, Petitioner did not dispute that she was holding the Ed Brown 1911 9 mm handgun when it discharged and struck Mr. Hendershot in the cheek, which ultimately caused his death. The only dispute was whether Petitioner intentionally pointed the gun at Petitioner and pulled the trigger with the intent to kill Mr. Hendershot, or whether the firearm discharged unintentionally. In proving the State's theory, the most compelling evidence involves the history of violence Petitioner inflicted on Mr. Hendershot. While Petitioner presented a defense that the shooting was accidental or unintentional, the evidence that she had previously pointed an assault rifle at Mr. Hendershot, that she brandished a machete, that she had stabbed Mr. Hendershot with a fork, and that she had destroyed doors in his home in fits of rage are all relevant and compelling pieces of evidence that serve to tell the full story of the relationship that ultimately resulted in Mr. Hendershot's death. Without them, the jury would have no reason to believe that Petitioner had any prior history of acting aggressively toward Mr. Hendershot, or that she had ever said or done anything that could be construed as threatening Mr. Hendershot's life.

The relationship between Mr. Hendershot and Petitioner, and the instances of domestic violence perpetrated by Petitioner are all part of the "story of the crime" that the State is entitled to tell the jury. It is not misleading the jury by deflecting to extraneous issues, because the events at issue demonstrate that the shooting was not an isolated incident that occurred without warning. Mr. Hendershot's murder was part of a continuous series of actions over the course of several

months in which Mr. Hendershot was attempting to have Petitioner leave his home, while Petitioner refused and continued to engage in threatening and violent behavior toward him. It would be disingenuous to expect the jury to render a fair and honest verdict regarding Petitioner's guilt without providing them with this information. Without it, the jury would have been forced to render a verdict based on a single occurrence, despite the presence of other compelling and relevant evidence that would provide context for the relationship and murder.

But, even if this Court finds that any or all of the prior acts were not intrinsic, all of them are admissible under Rule 404(b). The record demonstrates that the circuit court conducted a thorough and well-reasoned analysis regarding the admissibility of each prior act pursuant to Rule 404(b) and this Court's holding in *State v. McGinnis*. Rule 404(b) is inclusionary and allows for the admission of other crimes when those crimes are "relevant to an issue at trial except that which proves only criminal disposition." *State v. McGinnis*, 193 W. Va. 147, 154, 455 S.E.2d 516, 523 (1994) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Despite Rule 404(b) containing a list of the various reasons why prior acts evidence may be admissible, the State is not required to "force the evidence into a predetermined compartment," but must only show the evidence is offered for "a relevant purpose other than proving conduct by means of the general propensity inference ('he stole in the past, so he probably stole on this occasion')." *Id.* (footnote omitted). But while the State is not required to offer the evidence for one of the specific purposes set forth in the rule, it is "required to identify the specific purpose for which the evidence is being offered and the jury must be instructed to limit its consideration of the evidence to only that purpose." *Id.*

This Court has set forth a four-part analysis for lower courts to determine whether prior acts evidence should be admitted pursuant to Rule 404(b). The analysis is as follows: (1) "the prosecution has the burden of identifying a specific and relevant purpose that does not involve the

prohibited inference from character to conduct;" (2) the court must then "determine whether the evidence is relevant under Rules 401 and 402, as enforced by Rule 104"; (3) if the evidence is relevant, the evidence must be reviewed under the balancing test set forth in Rule 403, and, before the evidence may be admitted, "the probative value of such evidence must outweigh risks that its admission will create substantial danger of unfair prejudice"; and (4) if the evidence is admitted, the circuit court must provide a limiting instruction to the jury. *Id.* at 155-56, 455 S.E.2d 524-25 (internal citations, quotation marks, and footnotes omitted).

The State met this first requirement for each of the five prior acts it sought to introduce at trial. The State argued in its initial notice that, while it believed the evidence was intrinsic, all of the prior acts were admissible under Rule 404(b) to show motive, lack of accident, and absence of mistake. App. 74, 674. The circuit court also found that each of the prior acts were relevant under Rules 401 and 402. As to the prior act involving the AR-15, the circuit court found that "it is indeed relevant and it's relevant because we're talking about a domestic argument very close in time. We are talking about an argument that occurred between the defendant and the victim. We're talking about the brandishing of a firearm." App. 688-689. As to the machete incident, the circuit court found that Mr. Savage's testimony established by a preponderance of the evidence that Petitioner brandished a machete in "an effort on the part of the defendant to be interruptive and provoking of an argument." App. 709. The court specifically held that the evidence was "relevant to the [S]tate's theory of the case" and that it placed Mr. Hendershot's murder in context. App. 709.

The court made similar findings regarding Petitioner stabbing Mr. Hendershot with a fork, noting that "the Court is going to incorporate all [o]f its findings as the Court set forth." App. 731. To the extent that Petitioner alleges in her brief that the circuit court erred in summarily addressing

any of the issues, Pet'r's Br. 14, this claim should be rejected. The circuit court decided to incorporate its findings only after Petitioner attempted to argue points by incorporating prior arguments, and the court responded by stating that "I think that this is an excellent way to handle the things we've already hashed out so I appreciate that." App. 731. If this Court concludes that the circuit court's holding is improper, it should likewise conclude that Petitioner waived any error regarding the admissibility of the evidence by using the same tactics to present argument.

With respect to the incident involving Petitioner stabbing her ex-boyfriend with a screwdriver, Petitioner again made "the same arguments you guys have already brought up," then argued that this particular event should be excluded because it occurred "eleven, twelve years ago." App. 735. The circuit court again incorporated the prior analysis regarding the machete incident. App. 736. As to the remoteness claim, the court stated that such issues go "much more to the weight that a jury would give that evidence than it does to the admissibility of the evidence," and cited to this Court's opinion in *Winebarger* as support. *See* syl. pt. 5, *Winebarger*, 217 W. Va. 117, 617 S.E.2d 467 ("As a general rule remoteness goes to the weight to be accorded the evidence by the jury, rather than to admissibility").

With respect to the evidence regarding the damage to the doors, the circuit court held any determination as to the admissibility of the evidence in abeyance until it had the opportunity to rule on the admissibility of the State's expert witness testimony regarding domestic violence. App. 715-16. This was because of the noted overlap between the door incident and the nuances of a relationship plagued by domestic violence. App. 714-16. But Petitioner did not raise another objection to this issue during trial, and the evidence was eventually admitted at trial without

objection from Petitioner.<sup>3</sup> App. 1031, 1424. Thus, while Petitioner certainly objected to the admission of the evidence involving the damage to Mr. Hendershot's doors during the pretrial stages, she abandoned that objection at trial. *See Coleman v. Sopher*, 201 W. Va. 588, 600-01, 499 S.E.2d 592, 604-05 (1997) (noting the requirement under Rule 103 that "[t]imely and specific objections are required," and holding that while the defendant raised an objection to the admission of certain evidence in a pretrial *motion in limine*, defendant's failure to squarely address the claim at trial resulted in a waiver of that objection). Thus, any error in the admission of this specific piece of evidence, for any reason, is waived and should be disregarded.

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